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Summary

A programme of historic building recording was carried out by Colchester
Archaeological Trust at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street, Colchester in September 2017.

Five buildings were recorded on the site. The most historically significant were two
jettied timber-framed buildings on the street frontage: 6 St Nicholas Street, a late
16th-/early 17th-century structure, which was built off the frame of 5 St Nicholas Street,
a late 15th-century building. The jetties on 5 St Nicholas Street are a later addition, and
the building may have originally had its origins as a single room open hall. Other
buildings recorded included a late Victorian extension, with a third-floor added in the

early 20th century, and the remains of a late 16th-century brick extension.

Introduction (Figs 1 and 2)

This is the report on historic building recording at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street (formerly
‘Jacks’), Colchester, Essex in response to an application for the sites partial demolition
and conversion into flats and a retail property. The work was commissioned by
Colchester Borough Council, and carried out by Colchester Archaeological Trust (CAT)
in September 2017. There are five buildings detailed in this report, ranging in date from
the 15th to the 20th century (Fig 2). The site is centred on NGR TL 9982 2517.

A planning application (planning ref. 161296) was submitted to Colchester Borough
Council in May 2016 proposing partial demolition of the site and a change of use into
seven flats and a retail space. Given the historic importance of the buildings, and their
local significance, the Colchester Borough Council Archaeological Advisor (CBCAA)
recommended that a Historic England Level 3 building survey be made of them prior to
their partial demolition and conversion. This recommendation was made based on the
National Planning Policy Framework (DCLG 2012).

A brief detailing the required work (historic building recording) was issued by the
CBCAA (CBC 2017). In response to this brief, a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI)
was prepared by Colchester Archaeological Trust (CAT 2017) and agreed with the

CBCAA. All work was carried out in accordance with this WSI.

All work was carried out according to standards and practices contained in the
Chartered Institute for Archaeologists’ Standard and guidance for the collection,
documentation, conservation and research of archaeological materials (2014a),
Standard and guidance for archaeological investigation and recording of standing
buildings or structures (2014b), Management of research projects in the historic

environment (MoRPHE), Standards for field archaeology in the East of England (EAA
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14) and Research and Archaeology Revised: A Revised Framework for the East of

England (EAA 24). In addition, the guidelines contained in Understanding Historic

Buildings, A guide to good recording practice (Historic England 2016) were followed.

Aims

The aim of the building recording was to provide a detailed record and assessment of

the buildings prior to their conversion. The building recording was carried out to Level 3
(Historic England 2016).

In particular the record considered:

Plan and form of the site.

Materials and method of construction.

Date(s) of the structures.

Function and internal layout.

Original and later phasing, additions and their effect on the internal/external
fabric and the level of survival of original fabric.

Any surviving fixtures and fittings.

The context of the buildings within their immediate contemporary landscape.

Building recording methodology

The following are included in this report:

A documentary, cartographic and pictorial survey of the evidence pertaining to
the history and evolution of the present buildings.

A large-scale block plan of the site using existing architects drawings and the
current 1:2500 OS map extract. The position of each building, structure and
significant boundary has been indicated.

Annotated floor plans at a scale of 1:50 and elevations at a scale of 1:100, tied
into the descriptive text and photographic record.

A detailed description of the buildings. The description addresses features such
as materials, dimensions, method of construction including brickwork, joinery,
fenestration, spatial configuration, phasing, re-used timbers, carpentry
marks/graffiti and any evidence of original fixtures and fittings.

A discussion of the history and development of the buildings, including their
design, date, form and function and any significant modifications/reuse.

A photographic record, comprising digital photographs of both general shots
and individual features (external and internal). Selected examples of the
photographic record are clearly tied into the drawn record and reproduced as
fully annotated photographic plates supporting the text. The photographic
record is accompanied by a photographic register detailing location and
direction of shot (Appendix 1).
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Historical background

The following historical background draws on the Colchester Archaeological Trust
report archive, the Colchester Historic Environment Record (CHER) and the Essex
Historic Environment Record (EHER), accessed via the Heritage Gateway. A
documentary and cartographic search was also undertaken at the Essex Records
Office (ERO).

The site is located in Colchester town centre, on the junction of St Nicholas Street and
Culver Street East (Fig 1).

The site was recently the subject of a desk-based assessment (Purcell 2016), which

provided the following summary:

‘56-6 St Nicholas Street comprises two timber-framed structures, connected by a single
peg-tile roof. The building is two storey plus an attic floor, the gable ends of which front
St Nicholas Street. The layout of this two-storey building is L-shaped, with the north
block (No.5) extending to the east. Buildings adjoin the site to the north and east,

completely enclosing the property on two sides.

The buildings are jettied on the first and second-floor and feature shop fronts at ground-
floor. The site is accessed from St Nicholas Street via shop doors to No.5 and a door to
No.6.

The south elevation fronts Culver Street and has been underbuilt in brick. Adjoining the
main building is a two storey brick wing which provides access to the rear of the shop.
Adjoining this building to the east is 60 Culver Street East, a brick two storey building
with attic floor. The building backs onto a single storey structure with roof terrace

above, which was formerly an open yard.

Internally, the ground-floor is largely in use as retail space. No. 5 is open plan with retail
space extending the entire length of the block. The ground-floor of 60 Culver Street is in

use as a store room.

The first-floor of 60 Culver Street is divided into two stores with a small kitchen. Above
this, the attic floor is partitioned into two rooms, connected via a corridor running east to

west with WCs at either end.’

At the time of the historic building recording, the buildings were unoccupied and a ‘soft-

strip’ of the interior had occurred, partially exposing the original fabric of the structures.
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The five buildings detailed in this report, as identified in the desk-based assessment,

are as follows (Fig 2):

- At the north of the site, fronting onto St Nicholas Street, a large three-storey timber-
framed building (5 St Nicholas Street: Building A).

- At the south of the site, again fronting onto St Nicholas Street and adjacent to Building
A, a smaller three-storey timber-framed building, with a brick-built cellar (6 St Nicholas
Street: Building B).

- A two-storey brick-built building infilling between Building A and B, fronting onto Culver
Street East (Building C).

- To the east of Building C on Culver Street East, a large three-storey brick-built building
(60 Culver Street East: Building D).

- To the north of Building D and the east of Building A, a single-storey brick built

structure, enclosing a former yard (Building E).

Of these five buildings, the two timber-framed structures, Buildings A and B, are the
most important from a historical standpoint. They have been locally listed as dating to
the 17th century or earlier, and recognised for the contribution their external elevations
make to the character of the Colchester Town Centre Conservation Area

(http://www.colchesterhistoricbuildingsforum.org.uk/drupal/node/1932).

None of the buildings are currently in use, although they were the home of ‘Jacks
Famous Supplies Store’ from 1946 to 2013 (Purcell 2016).

The earliest known map of Colchester, by John Speed in 1610 (Map 1), shows
buildings in the location of 5 and 6 St Nicholas Street.
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Map 1 John Speed’s 1610 map of Colchester. Location of 5 St Nicholas
Street in red.

Given the isometric view of the map and the lack of detail, it is difficult to positively
ascertain if the buildings shown on Speed’s map are the same as those currently
standing. The map does, however, depict buildings bordering both St Nicholas St and
Culver Street East, in the same location as the timber-framed buildings still on site
(Buildings A and B). Also visible appears to be a building extending to the east of the

structures, which may still partially survive today as a portion Building C (see below).

Colchester was next depicted on a 1648 map commissioned by Lord Fairfax, detailing
the siege of the town during the English Civil War (Map 2). This map uses Speed’s as a
base, and as a result differs very little in details. Buildings can still clearly be seen in the
location of 5 and 6 St Nicholas Street, although the extension to the east seen on
Speed’s map is no longer visible. Given that this extension appears again in the next
map in the cartographic sequence (see Map 3 below), the fact it is missing from
Fairfax’'s map is probably due to it being a poor copy of Speed’s, rather than the
extension having been demolished.
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Nicholas Street in red.

In 1748 the clergyman and historian Philip Morant included the first truly orthogonal and
detailed map of the town in his The History and Antiquities of Colchester, with building

footprints and streets accurately illustrated (Map 3).

The structures at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street are shown as free-standing and the

extension to the east is again visible.

Map 3 Philip Morant’s 1748 map of Colchester. Location of 5 & 6 St Nicholas
Street in red.

An 1807-1810 map of Colchester by John Cole and George Roper also shows the
buildings (Map 4). Although this map is less detailed than Morant’s, it shows that 5 & 6
St Nicholas Street have been incorporated into row of buildings and are no longer

completely free-standing.
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Map 4 Cole and Roper’s 1807-1810 map of Colchester. Location of 5 & 6 St
Nicholas Street in red.

The next map, printed in 1848 by E. Monson, again shows 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street as
part of a range of buildings, but no longer shows a building extending to the east. The
area between Buildings A and B remains infilled, however, so it is possible that the
extension was reduced in size. The structure forming the infilling seen on this map,
whether it is a truncation of the one seen in earlier mapping, or a completely new
building, partially survives today as the ground-floor of Building C (see description on pg
53).

Map 5 Monson’s 1848 map of Colchester. Location of 5 & 6 St Nicholas
Street in red.
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Map 6 1:500 1876 OS map. Location of 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street in red.

Note extension to east.
The first large scale OS map of Colchester in 1876 (Map 6) shows the site with a new
extension to the east. This extension is shown in more detail in 1894 plans for the
insertion of a new window (Plan 1).

Plan 1 1894 plan submitted to planning department. ERO D/B 6
pb3/732. Shows first-floor of Building C and since demolished
extension.



CAT Report 1222: Historic building recording at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street (formerly ‘Jacks’), Colchester CO1 1LB
September 2017

This plan shows Building C’s second storey in section and a small extension in plan
(labelled as ‘new cutting room’: it has since been demolished). Judging from the cross-
section, both the first-floor and the extension were probably constructed at the same
time, sometime between 1848 (Monson’s Map) and 1876 (the first OS map). This plan
also names the owner as “W. Batemen Esq”, who is (or whose family is) involved with

the site until at least 1930 (see below).
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Map 7 1:2500 1896 OS map. Location of 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street in red.

The 1:2500 1896 OS map (Map 7) shows the site as much the same as in the 1876 OS

map, with no new extensions or alterations visible.
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Plan 2 1897 plan submitted to Colchester planning department. ERO D/B 6 pb3/1081. Shows new
two-storey extension on Culver Street (Building D).

A plan from 1897 (Plan 2) shows the details of a new two-storey extension (Building D)
to the east of the site, replacing the much smaller one-storey extension shown in
previous mapping (the ‘new cutting room’ shown in Plan 1), and in the process
demolishing part of the upper storey of Building C. The owners are now listed as
Bateman and Wyncoll, which corresponds with a photograph of the site taken in 1908
(Photograph 1).

10



CAT Report 1222: Historic building recording at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street (formerly ‘Jacks’), Colchester CO1 1LB
September 2017

S e

[ 1., BATEMAN 8 WYNCOLL, Sy (ulfille

i
. g A
® 5

Photograph 1 Western elevation of 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street (Buildings A and B),
taken in 1908. Note different windows and shop front (and lack of pargeting) compared
to modern appearance (Photograph 2). Taken from www.gazette-
news.co.uk/history/1528359.NOSTALGIA__ Pictures_of_the Id_Jacks_hardware_store
_as_it_used_to_be Labelled as being from a Colchester Guide book in 1908.

Photograph 2 Current western elevation of Buildings A (left) and B (right).

Comparing the 1908 photograph (Photograph 1) with the current frontage of Buildings A
and B (Photograph 2), shows that the facade of the building has changed significantly in
the last century, with the entire lower floor shop front and signs having been completely

replaced, and a large range of windows inserted in the first-floor of Building A. These
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alterations were presumably all made at a similar time, and we know for certain that the

new shop frontage was added before 1936 (see below).

In 1909 Colchester was surveyed by Charles E. Goad Ltd for a fire insurance map. This
map shows the town in great detail, and lists, amongst other things, the current use of
each building, the number of stories, internal divisions within structures and roofing

materials (Map 8). The five buildings are depicted as follows:

- Building A is shown as having an internal division in the centre of the structure,
aligned with the exterior wall of Building B. There is an entrance in this division allowing
access to the eastern half of the building. The western half of the building is marked as
timber-framed, while the eastern half is marked as brick-built. This probably indicates
that the timbers constituting the ground-floor of Building A had already decayed by the
time this survey was undertaken, and had been replaced by brick walls. The western
half of the building is grouped with Building B, and is marked as two-and-a-half storeys
tall, presumably indicating the cellar in Building B was still in use at this point. Finally,
the map shows a skylight in the location of the current stairs between Buildings A and
B.

- Building B is shown as a timber-framed structure, two-and-a-half storeys tall and

roofed in tile. It has a division with, and an entrance into, Building C. Along with Building
A it is occupied by a “Draper & Tailor” (as evidenced by previous plans and Photograph
1, this would have been the business of Bateman and Wyncoll). The ‘half’ floor noted in

this plan is presumably the cellar, as mentioned above.

- Building C is shown as a brick-built structure, two storeys tall and roofed in tile. It has

an entrance into Building A and Building D, but has no entrance onto Culver Street.
- Building D is shown as a brick-built structure, two storeys tall and roofed in tile and
slate. It has an entrance into Building A and Building C, and an entrance onto Culver

Street.

- Building E is not yet constructed, but there is a smaller one storey brick structure built

up against Building A in the open yard, and roofed with metal.
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Map 8 1909 fire insurance map by Charles E. Goad Ltd. Location of 5 & 6 St
Nicholas Street in highlighted in red.
In 1920 the size of property was increased further, with a third storey added to Building

D for a new workroom (Plan 3).

In 1935 all five buildings were put up for sale by the trustees of the late Mr F.H Wyncoll.
The Sale Catalogue (ERO D/DJ 2/19/62) details Buildings C and D as part of 6 St
Nicholas Street (Building B), and lists the rooms within each building, noting that
Building A has ‘“four attics’. This presumably means that the second-floor of Building A
was subdivided in a different fashion than it is today (see descriptive record below).
There continues to be no mention of the cellar in Building B, reinforcing the notion that it
must have been infilled before this date. Building A was sold with a pre-existing tenant,
and Building B sold with vacant possession. The buildings were purchased for a sum of
£3500 by a Mr C.W. Chambers, who in 1936 commissioned a significant number of
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alterations to Building D, including the conversion of the ground-floor into a self-
contained shop and the two upper floors into a series of flats. He also commissioned
the construction of a new store in the yard now covered by Building E, as well as new
W.Cs (Plan 4). A window was also inserted into the southern elevation of Building C.
Visible on this plan is the curved glass frontage of Building B, meaning that its insertion,
and the presumably other alterations to the front of Buildings A and B, must have been

carried out before 1936.

Plan 3 1920 plan submitted to Colchester planning department.
ERO D/B 6 pb3/3660. Shows the addition of a second-floor to
Building D.
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Plan 4 1936 plan submitted to Colchester planning department. ERO D/B
6/pb3/7184. Shows numerous alterations to Building D and yard to north. Also
visible in plan is curved glass frontage of Building B.
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In plan, the buildings on site remain much the same after this point until the 1970 OS
map (Map 9). A small extension has been added to the north of Building D, but apart

from that the site appears to have been the subject of no new construction.

\iva}

Map 9 1:1250 1970 OS map. Location of 5 & 6 St
Nicholas Street in red.

Since the 1970s, all the buildings within the confines of the yard to the north of Building
D have been demolished, and Building E constructed in their place. The entire site is
now enclosed by buildings (Fig 2). Several internal alterations of Buildings A and B
have taken place in the 20th and 21st century, including the construction of additional

dividing walls and supporting brick pillars, particularly on the ground-floor.
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Descriptive record (Figs 3-11)

The five buildings detailed this report are described individually below. Prior to this
investigation being carried all out the buildings were soft-stripped, with almost all non-
structural features removed. Any vestiges of the modern interior of the building (nailed
together timber-frames for plasterboard walls, for example) are not as a rule detailed in
the descriptive text unless deemed relevant for the interpretation of the original

structural features.

Although Buildings A and B were originally entirely timber-framed, damage to their
structure and alterations since their construction means that very little remains of their
original timber-frames. This is particularly notable on the ground-floor, where no studs
survive at all in either building. Several of the major structural timbers within the
buildings have also been removed, damaged, shortened, or obscured my modern
repairs, most clearly on the western, jettied, elevation. The description that follows
details as best as possible the original fabric of the buildings, but is inherently limited by

the damage the structures have sustained.

Building A

Building A is a rectangular timber-framed three-storey building with two bays, 10.5m
long x 6.2m wide x 8.5m ftall, aligned east-to-west and fronting onto St Nicholas Street
(Photograph 2). It is constructed from hand-sawn hardwood timber, very little of which
remains on the ground-floor, where the building is supported by brick pillars and
recently installed akrow props. The building has a peg-tile covered, gabled-ended roof,
with the gables rendered over. The original timber-frame of the building is pegged

together.

Exterior (Figs 8 and 10)
The northern elevation of the building is entirely obscured by the adjacent brick-built 4

St Nicholas Street, with only the peg-tile covered roof visible.

The eastern gable-end of the building is rendered over and contains four inserted
wooden-framed windows of varying sizes (Photograph 3). The lowest of these three is
partially obscured by the roof of Building E. Within Building E the surviving first-floor
eastern elevation of Building A has been stripped, exposing the original timber-frame as

well as modern timbers nailed onto it. Nothing remains of the ground-floor elevation.
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Photograph 3 Eastern elevation of Building A. Photograph taken facing west.

The southern elevation of Building A does not survive at the ground-floor level, but at
the first-floor there is an inserted wooden-framed six-light fixed window (Photograph 4).
An entrance has also been formed adjacent to this window by removing a stud. Some
of the plaster has been removed below the inserted window on this elevation, exposing
a section of lath and plaster. Adjacent to Building B on the first-floor, most of the
exterior is covered with modern plasterboard, with the exception of a bricked up and

plastered over doorway between the two structures (A and B).

Photograph 4 Southern exterior elevation of the first-floor of Building A, with
exposed lath and plaster below inserted window. Photograph taken inside Building
C, facing north.
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The western elevation of Building A is
jettied on the first- and second-floor,
with both overhanging the floor below
(Photograph  2). The corner-post
supporting the second-floors jetty has
a carved decoration at its apex
(Photograph 5). There is simple
pargetting on this rendered gable-end,
which contains an off-centre inserted
four-light sash window. Below this the
entire first-floor wall has been
removed and five large windows have
been inserted (two fixed twelve-lights,
two fixed 42-lights and one 36-lights

casement). The ground-floor on this

- = elevation is a windowed shop front,
Photograph 5 North-west corner-post wooden-framed with large panes of

supporting second-floor jetty. Note
carved top. Photograph taken facing glass and a double door. The
north-east. pargetting, windows and shop front on

this elevation have all been added to
the building since 1908 (see historical
background pg 11).

Interior

Ground-floor (Fig 4)

The ground-floor of Building A is open plan, with no surviving divisions (Photograph 6).
It has a modern concrete floor. As mentioned previously, very little of the building’s
original fabric survives at this level, with brick-built walls and pillars, as well as some
replacement timbers, now supporting the upper floors. It seems likely that most of the
structures stability is the result of it being directly adjacent to the large brick-built
structure to the north (4 St Nicholas Street).
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Photograph 6 Ground-floor of Building A. Photograph taken facing north-west.

Three of the four corner-posts are still present, but none survive to ground level, either
being supported by brickwork, or, in some cases, not being supported at all
(Photograph 7 and 8). The corner-post in the south-west corner is not visible, and has
probably been replaced by a metal girder (see Building B below). No studs survive.
Only one small section of the northern sill-beam survives. Beneath this is a section of
brick plinth that may be original to the building: it is in very poor condition, with three
courses of indeterminate bonding and bricks measuring 170 x 100 x 60mm (Photograph
9).

The girding-beam of Building A only partially survives. To the west of the northern and
southern elevations it is either completely missing (northern), or has been replaced by a
metal beam (southern). Additionally on the entire western elevation, although largely
obscured by the modern shop front, it appears to have been replaced by another metal
beam. These replacement beams were probably inserted when the shop front was
rebuilt in the early 20th century.

19



CAT Report 1222: Historic building recording at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street (formerly ‘Jacks’), Colchester CO1 1LB
September 2017

Photograph 7 Remains of north-east Photograph 8 Remains of south-

corner-post of Building A at the east corner-post of Building A at the
ground floor. Photograph taken facing  ground floor. Photograph taken facing
north-east. north-east.

The northern elevation of the ground-floor is largely dominated by a very irregular
English-bond and un-pointed red brick wall. This is the southern wall of the adjacent
building (4 St Nicholas Street), and in some places brickwork protrudes from this wall to
support the girding-beam of Building A (Photograph 10). It would seem that at the time
of 4 St Nicholas Streets construction that the lower floor of Building A had already lost
much of its original timber, necessitating the underpinning of the girding-beam in this
fashion. Also visible in this elevation is a bricked-in doorway that would have originally

joined the two structures at ground-level.
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Photograph 9 Remains of sill-beam and brick plinth on northern elevation of
Building A. Photograph taken facing north.

Photograph 10 Remains of principal-post on ground-floor on the northern
elevation of Building A. Underpinning of girding-beam by brickwork also visible.
Photograph taken facing north.
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Also on the northern elevation is an inserted red brick chimney stack and blocked
fireplace. Evidence of this chimney stack is seen again on the first- and second-floors,
but its associated chimney is not longer extant. The principal-post on the northern

elevation is broken and does not reach ground level (Photograph 10).

Towards the west of the north elevation, adjacent to the damaged north-west corner-
post and in the location of the section of missing girding-beam, a timber is visible

projecting from the floor above (Photograph 11).

Photograph 11 Remains of current corner-post (left) and possible original
corner-post projecting from first-floor (centre) on ground-floor on the northern
elevation of Building A. Photograph taken facing north.

The eastern elevation of the ground-floor is devoid of any features, and largely opens
up into Building E (Photograph 12). The south-east corner of the structure is supported
by a later rendered-over brick wall. The principal-post in this elevation is entirely absent.
Of note on this elevation, however, is the intact girding-beam, and on the underside of it
a series of of diamond window mullions and a shutter groove, as well as mortices for
studs (Photograph 13). These features are remnants of an unglazed opening on this
elevation, a feature found in buildings up to the early 16th century, but typically dating to
the 15th century or earlier (Historic England 2017, 8). The implications of the date of

this feature is examined in the discussion.
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Photograph 12 Eastern elevation of Building A at ground level. Photograph

taken within Building E and facing west.

The southern elevation of the ground-floor is, like the eastern, devoid of features. A

brick pillar encases and reinforces the surviving principal-post in this elevation but no

studwork remains. The underside of the girding-beam, where visible, has mortices

spaced 250-300mm apart. No gaps in the mortices were observed that could indicate

an opening into the building. To the west of the southern elevation (below where the

Photograph 13 Underside of girding-beam
on eastern side of Building A. Diamond
window mullions visible.

girding-beam has been replaced
by a metal beam), the studs have
been replaced by a modern

plasterboard wall.

The western elevation of the
ground-floor entirely consists of
the glass store front (Photograph
6) inserted into the building
sometime between 1908 and
1936 (see historical background
pg 14). As a result there is no

surviving principal-post.

Above this level, the first-floor is
supported by a large chamfered
binding-beam that would have
been jointed into the principal-

posts of the western and eastern
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elevations when they were extant (Photograph 14). It is now supported by an iron strap
at its eastern, and, presumably, western end, although the modern shop frontage
masks any evidence of it on the western elevation. Jointed to the centre of this binding-
beam are two more smaller chamfered binding-beams that are jointed to the principal-
posts in the north and south elevations. There is a replacement modern post supporting

these beams where they meet in the centre of the building.
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Photograph 14 Underside of first-floor in Building A. Chamfered binding-beam
and supporting iron strap visible. Photograph taken facing west.

First-floor (Fig 5)

The first-floor of Building A is mostly open plan (Photograph 15). There is a single
modern plasterboard division that extends 2.2m into the main room from the eastern
wall, and the stairwell leading to the second-floor occupies part of the floor space, but
apart from these two the features the first-floor is a single room. The floor is partially
exposed floorboards, partially modern plasterboard, and partially concrete (in the south-

east corner).

More of the original fabric of the building survives on this floor than the ground-floor, but
it is still heavily damaged, with several areas of modern insertion and repair. The wall-
plate survives around most of the building, although it is completely obscured by
modern plasterboard on the western elevation, above the row of large inserted
windows. Like the binding-beams, the wall-plate is chamfered. Several studs on the
northern elevation are missing or have been replaced by modern machine-cut timbers.

All four corner-posts, rising from the ground-floor, are intact at this level.
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Photograph 15 First-floor in Building A. Photograph taken facing north-east.

The northern elevation, like on the ground-floor, is dominated by the red brick wall of
the neighbouring building; 4 St Nicholas Street. As with the floor below, several sections
of brick wall are providing additional support to the timber-frame on this elevation. The
chimney stack continues up through the first-floor, and has a modern metal cast
fireplace inserted into it (Photograph 16). Also on this elevation a section of the wall-
plate has been cut between the location of two studs (one of which is now missing), and
lath and plaster added behind it, bonded to the brick wall (Photograph 17). Few studs
are surviving, but those that are have dimensions of 150 x 110mm. The surviving

mortices are spaced 330-350mm apart.
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Photograph 16 Chimney-stack and later fireplace in first-floor of Building A.
Photograph taken facing north.
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The north-west corner-post on the
northern elevation has a large
unused mortice in its face, probably
for an arched brace (Photograph 18).
Above this corner-post on the wall-
plate is a large and rudimentary scarf
joint; an edge-halved scarf with
square abutments (Photograph 19).
This joint connects the main wall-
plate of the building with that of the
jetty overhanging onto St Nicholas
Street. Having a scarf joint in such a
location would provide little structural
stability to the jetty and would put a
lot of pressure on the wall-plate and
corner-post. This feature is one of the
few instructive and diagnostic

elements left in the building’s frame,

and is examined in detail in the

discussion. Photograph 17 Wall-plate cut and lath and
plaster added behind on first-floor of Building A.
Photograph taken facing north.

The eastern elevation of the first-
floor has three inserted windows:
one small two-light fixed window,
one small two-light awning
window and one six-light fixed
window with a larger single light
awning above it. The timber-
frame of the building is largely
obscured by wooden panelling
and plaster on this elevation, but
some lath and plaster work is
visible that could be original to

the structure.

The southern elevation of the

first-floor is also mostly rendered

s ? ps ’ over, but some original studs

Photograph 18 North-west corner-post of

Building A, showing unused mortice for arch

brace and scarf joint above. Photograph

taken facing north. 26
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(and later machine-cut replacements) are visible. Also visible towards the west of the
this elevation, nearby the inserted door between Buildings A and B, is some lath and

plaster on the exterior of the building (Photograph 20).
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Photograph 19 Detailed photograph showing scarf joint in wall-plate above
north-west corner-post in Building A. Photograph taken facing north-west.
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Photograph 20 Photograph of internal southern elevation of first-floor in
Building A. Exposed lath and plaster render visible on exterior of building, as
well as bricked over inserted door between Buildings A and B. Photograph
taken facing south.

The western elevation is entirely taken up by the row of modern windows inserted into
this elevation between 1908 and 1936 (Photograph 2).
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Above this level, the second-floor is supported in much the same way as the first: by
three chamfered binding-beams, that are jointed onto the principal-posts of each
elevation. The larger one is jointed on the east and west elevations, and two jointing out
from it to the north and south (Photograph 21). Like on the ground-floor, there is a
modern post supporting these beams in the centre of the building. Unlike on the
ground-floor, however, the two smaller binding-beams between the north and south
elevations have mortices on their underside, suggesting that this floor was originally
divided in two (Photograph 22). There is no gap between any of the mortices that would
suggest an entranceway, but the binding-beam jointed to the southern elevation is
partially covered by modern boards, obscuring several mortices. The west binding-
beam is supported by an additional modern post.

Photograph 21 First-floor of Building A, with binding-beams visible supporting
floor above and modern post in centre of building. Photograph taken facing
south-east.
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Photograph 22 Underside of north-south binding-beam supporting the second-
floor, showing unused mortices. Photograph taken facing north.

Second-floor (Figs 6)

The second-floor is in the rafters of Building A and is divided into three rooms (Fig 6),
with two large rectangular rooms to the east and west, either side of a narrower central
room containing the stairwell and a modern roof-light. The floor consists of floorboards,
although in the room to the west several of these are absent. The second-floor has a
high number of later machine-cut timber and lath and plaster additions, partially

masking the original timber-frame.

Photograph 23 West room on second-floor of Building A. Photograph taken
facing east.
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Building A has a collar rafter roof, constructed with no ridgeboard or purlins. Each pair
of rafters meets at the apex of the roof and are jointed together by a peg (Photograph
24). A collar connects each pair if rafters, and again is pegged into place (Photograph
25).

Most of the rafters have evidence of smoke blackening, particularly at their apex
(Photographs 26 and 27). The smoke blackening seems most concentrated in the
centre of the roof, becoming less prominent towards the eastern and western ends of
the building (Photograph 27). The pair of rafters on the extreme western end of the
building (above the jetty) are made of a noticeably different wood to the rest, and have

no evidence of smoke-blackening at all.

Photograph 24 Detail of rafters in Building A. Peg at apex visible, along with
scarf joint/repair to rafter.

Photograph 25 Detail of peg joining collar and rafter in east room of Building
A. Photograph taken facing north-east.
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Photograph 26 Detail of smoke-blackening on
rafters in centre of Building A. Photograph taken
facing south-west.

Photograph 27 Smoke-blackening on rafters in Building A. Shows variation in
smoke-blackening from centre of building (right) outwards. Photograph taken
facing north-west.
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Photograph 28 Carpenter’s mark “IV” at apex of rafters in Building A.

Two distinct series of carpenter's marks were observed on the rafters. These marks
were only observed in the western room, as the eastern room had more recent timber
covering large percentages of the frame, and in the central room the roof was totally

obscured.

Photograph 29 Carpenter’s mark “lllI” on side of rafters in Building A.

The carpenter's marks (Fig 6) were observed either at the apex of the rafters
(Photograph 28), or more centrally-placed on their inner face (Photographs 29 and 30).
Of the two, the centrally-placed marks were the more common, with 10 observed,

compared to only 3 at the apex. The 3 apex marks did not appear to have a matching

32



CAT Report 1222: Historic building recording at 5 & 6 St Nicholas Street (formerly ‘Jacks’), Colchester CO1 1LB
September 2017

mark on the opposing rafters, although there is a chance it is on the outer face of the

timber and is obscured by the batons and tiles.

S _ e
Photograph 31 Queen and king-posts nailed in place on the two westernmost
collars in Building A.
The three eastern-most pairs of rafters in the western room had matching carpenters
marks on their inner faces (Fig 6). The remainder only had the mark on one of the two

rafters, most commonly the northern one of the pair (Fig 6).
Notably, on rafter pairs that have both sets of carpenter’'s marks, they don’t match (Fig

6). Some rafters have very rudimentary splayed scarf joints, or possibly repairs
(Photograph 24).
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The western room on the second-floor (Photograph 23) measures 5.3 x 5.7m. The
western gable end has several hand-sawn studs and a beam, all of which have thinner
planks nailed to them which until recently were rendered in lath and plaster. These
studs and beam are all pegged into place. In this room all the collars between each pair
of rafters have a later collar nailed in place just below them, which was rendered in lath
and plaster until quite recently, just like the gable end. The westernmost two collars (the
ones above the jetty) both have nailed in place queen-posts and king-posts
(Photograph 31).

As well as these king and queen-posts, there is also a very thin and wide collar purlin
projecting out from the western gable, that ends some short distance before the second
collar. This collar-purlin is resting on the lower collars, and was probably inserted at the
same time. These additions to the western gable (the queen- and king-posts and the
collar purlin) were all presumably
added in order to provide more

stability to the jetty.

The southern elevation of the
western room has four rafters that
have been cut off to allow access
into the second-floor of Building
B. The joining section of roof
between Buildings A and B has a
small timber room within it, which
uses the hand-sawn arched collar
of the joining section of roof as
one of its structural timbers
(Photograph 32). The purpose of
this room is unclear, but

presumably it was used for

storage.

Photograph 32 Small timber room in the The rafters forming the joining
joining section of roof between the second-
floor of Buildings A and B. Arched collar

used as part of the structure. Photograph sawn and partially machine cut,
taken facing north.

section of roof are partially hand-

suggesting either some repair-
work or possibly re-use of hand-sawn timbers (or indeed both). Either way the joining
section of roof must have been added after the construction of Building B (rather than
contemporary with it), as the cut rafter on the northern elevation of Building B

demonstrates (see below).
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The central room on the second-floor of Building A measured 4.3 x 1.5m and is almost
entirely taken up by the stairwell down to the first-floor and the skylight, which opens to
the first-floor. The dividing walls between the three rooms on the second-floor are
mostly made of wooden panels. Projecting from the northern elevation on both sides of
the central room, however, is 850mm of quite rudimentary lath and plaster render
(Photograph 33 and 35). This suggests that this division on the second-floor, at least to

the north of the building, are original, or early additions, to the structure.

The eastern room on the second-floor of Building A measures 3.6 x 6.1m (Photograph
34). A low lath and plaster wall obscures the lower part of the rafters on the southern
elevation. The eastern gable end is likewise covered with render, with only a modern

machine-cut girding beam, nailed to the end-rafters, visible. Like the western room,

Photograph 33 Possible original rudimentary lath and plaster on west side of
the modern skylight in Building A. Photograph taken from first-floor looking up.

most of the exposed timbers in this room have a thinner plank of wood attached to
them, which until recently was covered in lath and plaster. Unlike the western room,

however, there are no lower collars nailed in place below the original ones.
In the northern elevation of the eastern room is the chimney stack (as observed in the

lower floors) surviving to a height of four brick courses above the floorboards
(Photograph 35).
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Photograph 34 East room on second-floor of Building A. smoke-blackened
rafters visible. Photograph taken facing north-west.

Photograph 35 Remaining top of chimney-stack in Building A. Possible original
lath and plaster on east side of modern skylight visible to left. Photograph taken
facing north.
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Building B

Building B is a timber-framed three-storey building with a single bay, 6m long x 5.6m
wide x 8.5m tall, fronting onto St Nicholas Street to the west and Culver Street East to
the south (Photograph 36). It is essentially a square, with the exception of the southern
wall, which follows the alignment of Culver Street East and makes the building
marginally wider at its western end compared to its eastern (Fig 4). Beneath the
building is a brick-built cellar on the same alignment, which would have supported the
structures principal timbers when they were extant (Photograph 37).

Photograph 36 Entire site, showing Buildings A, B, C and D. Underbuildig in
brick below Building B’s southern jetty visible. Photograph taken facing north-
east.

i |

i

Photograph 37 Brick-built cellar below Building B. Photograph taken facing
north-west.
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The building is constructed from hand-sawn hardwood timber, almost none of which
remains on the ground-floor. The building has a peg-tile covered, gabled-ended roof,
with the gables rendered over. The original timber-frame of the building is pegged

together.

Exterior (Figs 7, 8 and 10)
The building is constructed using the southern elevation of Building A as support for
most of its principal timbers and roof. As a result Building B has no northern elevation to

describe.

The eastern gable-end of the building is partially obscured by Building C, but what is
visible is rendered over and featureless. Cracks in the lath and plaster rendering on this
elevation have been repaired by later rendering with grey plaster (Photograph 38).
Within Building C the surviving first-floor eastern elevation of Building B has been
stripped, exposing the original timber-frame as well as an inserted doorway and
wooden-framed window (Photograph 39). The entire first-floor has been raised, and is

now supported on a reinforced steel girder, also visible on this elevation.

Photograph 38 Eastern gable-end of Building B, showing repairs to plaster.
Photograph taken facing north-west.

The southern elevation of Building B is jettied on the first-floor, but not on the second.
This jetty has been under-built in brick (with dimensions of 215 x 100 x 60mm) laid in
English-bond and bonded to the wall of Building C (Photograph 40). The first-floor has

no features, and is rendered-over.
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Photograph 39 Eastern elevation of exterior of first-floor of Building B,

showing inserted doorway and window-frame. Also visible is metal beam
supporting raised first-floor. Photograph taken facing west.

Photograph 40 Southern elevation of Building B, showing brick
underbuilding. Photograph taken facing north-east.

The western elevation of Building B is jettied on the first- and second-floor (Photograph
40). Like Building A there is simple pargetting on the rendered gable-end, which

contains an inserted off-centre wooden-framed twelve-light sash window. Below this the

first-floor is also rendered with pargetting and has an inserted wooden-framed 16-light
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casement window. The ground-floor on this elevation is a windowed shop front,
wooden-framed with large curved panes of glass and a door. The pargetting, window on
the first-floor and shop front have all been added to the building since 1908 (see

historical background pg 14).

Interior

Basement (Fig 3)

The exterior wall of the basement is constructed from red brick in English-bond, with
measurements of 210 x 100 x 50mm. It has two coal chutes on its western elevation,
projecting into St Nicholas Street, and two recesses on its southern elevation for
shelving (Photograph 41). On its northern elevation is a 